# Design and Control of Drones

# Mark W. Mueller,<sup>1</sup> Seung Jae Lee,<sup>2</sup> and Raffaello D'Andrea<sup>3</sup>

 <sup>1</sup>Department of Mechanical Engineering, University of California, Berkeley, Berkeley, USA, CA 94720; email: mwm@berkeley.edu
<sup>2</sup>Department of Mechanical System Design Engineering, Seoul National

University of Science and Technology, Seoul, Republic of Korea, 01811; email: seungjae\_lee@seoultech.ac.kr

<sup>3</sup>Institute for Dynamic Systems and Control, ETH Zurich, 8092 Zurich, Switzerland

Posted with permission from the Annual Review of Control, Robotics, and Autonomous Systems, Volume 5; copyright 2022 Annual Reviews, https://www.annualreviews.org/. 2021. 5:1-18 Copyright © 2021 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved

#### Keywords

drones, aerial robotics, design and control

#### Abstract

The design and control of drones remains an area of active research, and here we review recent progress in this field. Design objectives and related physical scaling laws are discussed, focusing on energy consumption, agility and speed, and survivability and robustness. Control of such vehicles is broken into low-level stabilization, and higher-level planning such as motion planning, and we argue that a highly relevant problem is the integration of sensing with control and planning. Lastly, we describe some vehicle morphologies, and the trade-offs that they represent. We specifically compare multicopters with winged designs, and the effects of multi-vehicle teams.

# Contents

1. Introduction	2
2. Drone dynamics, design objectives, and scaling laws	3
2.1. Drone dynamics	3
2.2. Design objectives and scaling laws	5
3. Low level control and stabilization	6
4. Motion planning	8
4.1. Planning for perception	9
4.2. Collision avoidance	9
4.3. Energy-focused planning	10
5. Vehicle morphologies	10
5.1. Multicopters	10
5.2. Winged vehicles	12
5.3. Vehicle teams	12
6. Outlook	13

# 1. Introduction

Dramatic reductions in cost and advances in sensing technologies, actuation, energy storage, and computation have made drones commonplace. Their applications range from remote sensing to physical interaction, structural inspection to package delivery. Larger drones may also serve to carry human passengers, either for recreational purposes, or as aerial taxis and urban transit (often called Advanced Air Mobility or Urban Air Mobility, see e.g. (1)). Compared to many other types of robots, the operation of drones is complicated by (a) their typically unstable flight dynamics, where there is no simple "safe" behavior in the case of a fault; (b) the mass constraint making all designs highly integrated, and requiring economy of both actuators and sensors; and (c) severe energy consumption constraints.

In this paper we review the current state of the art of the design and control of drones. We focus primarily on multicopter drones, i.e. drones that rely on multiple rigid propellers whose speed is varied to produce variable thrusts, and where differences in thrusts produce torques to cause the vehicle to change orientation. This class of vehicle is popular, compared to more conventional aeronautical designs such as helicopters or fixed-wing aircraft, because of their extremely low mechanical complexity (in the case of a quadcopter, having only four moving parts, identical up to a mirror symmetry). Moreover, they are capable of hover flight, have well-understood control properties, and are typically very agile. The use of multiple independent rotors for large scale vehicles is typically called distributed electric propulsion, and promises increased efficiency and robustness (see, e.g., (2)). We note that the multicopter design is a century old, with one design from 1924 shown in Figure 1 – although the lack of passive stability meant that modern electronics were required to make them successful.

We start by recapitulating the key dynamic properties of drones, and then describe some typical, high-level design objectives. As with any engineered system, any given design represents a trade-off between various performance objectives and overall system cost. The first objective is usually to achieve acceptable range or endurance to complete useful missions. This is achieved by a combination of energy storage and efficiency. We describe some fundamental physical characteristics that capture, to a first approximation, the main

<sup>2</sup> Mueller et al.



(left) A patent drawing from De Bothezat's 1924 patent (taken from (3)), and (right) a typical custom-assembled research quadcopter (taken from (4)).

trade-offs and limitations for drones. We relate the size and mass of a drone to its energy consumption, and show that hovering drones have a fundamental limitation on achievable flight time, given a fixed size and payload mass, independent of the available energy storage capacity.

Next we discuss both low-level control strategies, and higher-level motion planning. We note an emphasis on strategies that explicitly take sensors into account, allowing for reasoning (e.g.) about the effect of control actions on uncertainty. Finally we describe typical vehicle design morphologies, spending most time describing multicopters, but also briefly touching drones with wings and teamed systems.

# 2. Drone dynamics, design objectives, and scaling laws

In this section we provide a brief overview of the dynamics that govern drone flight, and then describe how typical design objectives are affected and traded-off.

#### 2.1. Drone dynamics

We focus on the dynamics of multicopter drones near hover, and describe this only at a high level. Common multicopters are equipped with brushless motors that drive rigid propellers. The propellers typically have two propeller blades, though propellers with three or more



Figure 2

(A) A typical multicopter with four propellers, sharing a common thrust direction indicated by the arrow. (B) Each propeller produces both a total thrust force (due to the total lift of the blade elements) and a torque opposing its rotation (due to the couple of the drag forces on the blades).

blades are also possible. A higher number of blades typically allows for greater thrusts at the same rotational speed, but the relationship to power consumption, noise levels, vibration, etc. can be complex, see e.g. (5). As the rotating propeller displaces air, it produces both a force and a torque. The force is dominated by the lift, the component parallel to the axis of rotation. The force and torque components in the plane of rotation tend to be much smaller than those parallel to the axis of rotation – due to the rotational symmetry of the propeller, these are typically present only when the propeller is translating through the air. Fig. 2 shows a diagram of a quadcopter, and a propeller with two blades.

Being an aerodynamic force, the thrust is well approximated as proportional to the square of the angular velocity of the propeller, where the proportionality constant captures properties of the the propeller (e.g. shape and size), and the environment (specifically the air density, with which aerodynamic forces scale linearly to a first approximation). Opposing the rotation of the propeller is a torque parallel to the axis of rotation, caused by the couple of aerodynamic drag on the propeller blades, opposing their motion. This reaction torque is therefore also reasonably approximated as quadratic in the propeller angular velocity, though it is usually written as proportional to the thrust force the propeller produces.

For a translating propeller, there will also be components of torque in the propeller's plane of rotation, however these components are usually negligible compared to the moment caused by the thrust acting at a distance from the center of mass. More complex propeller thrust and torque models exist, e.g. in that of (6) used for high-precision control in agile flight, or the models of (7) for propellers in forward flight.

A typical multicopter is equipped with an even number of propellers, with parallel axes of rotation, but divided evenly in clockwise- and counter-clockwise rotations. Translational motion of the vehicle is achieved by pointing the common thrust direction so that the vector result of the thrust, weight, and aerodynamic forces on the vehicle produce a desired translational acceleration. As the propeller thrust forces are all parallel, the vehicle's translational acceleration is dependent only on the sum of the motor forces rather than their individual values. Near hover, in wind-free environments, the translation of a multicopter can be simply described as the result of the weight, and a single "total thrust" vector, greatly easing planning and control.

To rotate the vehicle, torques are produced by differences between the motor forces. The torque caused by the thrust acting at a distance from the vehicle center of mass causes the thrust vector to rotate (i.e. the roll and pitch motion). Rotation about the thrust vector is produced by differences in the propellers' reaction torques, noting that at hover the balanced number of propellers thus produces zero net reaction torque. In typical operations, the net angular momentum of the propellers is zero, again due to the balanced number of propellers. It should be noted that changes in the propeller speeds will also cause angular acceleration of the main body of a drone, through conservation of angular momentum; this effect is however typically negligible compared to the aerodynamic torques.

The control of a multicopter is thus achieved by specifying four quantities: the total thrust magnitude, and the three components of torque. For this reason, a hover-capable multicopter requires at least four propellers (though relaxation of the definition of "hover" allows for vehicles with as few as one propeller (8, 9)). Most drones (even those with six or more propellers) are therefore underactuated, with four control inputs for their six degrees of freedom (though exceptions are discussed later). A more detailed description of quadcopter dynamics may be found in, for example, (10).

Fixed-wing and hybrid vehicles are equipped with non-rotating lifting surfaces, and po-

<sup>4</sup> Mueller et al.

tentially associated control surfaces like ailerons, elevators, and rudders. In narrow regimes, the forces and torques produced by these are typically accurately modelled as quadratic in airspeed; however their modelling is greatly complicated when operated through extreme conditions such as stall and/or very large angles of attack. A good overview of fixed-wing aircraft modeling and dynamics is given in (11).

# 2.2. Design objectives and scaling laws

We explore some of the main criteria that influence the design of a drone, and discuss some fundamental scaling laws that govern their trade-offs. Specifically, we explore energy consumption (which affects range and endurance), agility and speed, survivability and robustness, and cost/complexity. As is typical of aerospace applications, drone designs are highly integrated and typically represent a compromise between competing objectives. A primary concern with any flying machine is its overall mass – shaving off mass from a design typically improves a vehicle's capabilities in many design objectives simultaneously.

2.2.1. Energy consumption. For missions involving surveillance, a primary design objective is flight time; for missions involving transportation it is range. For a fixed energy storage technology, these are determined by a vehicle's power consumption. When operating at low airspeeds, a drone's lift is produced directly by its propellers, whose power consumption can be approximated with actuator disk theory – an idealized propeller that is not translating, and operating in an inviscid, incompressible fluid will consume aerodynamic power that is inversely proportional to the radius of the propeller, and proportional to the force to the power of 1.5 (for details, see (11)). Thus, all else being equal, a vehicle equipped with larger propellers is thus expected to have better flight endurance. Simililarly, a vehicle requiring lower thrust (e.g. due to lower overall mass) will also have better endurance. The superlinear increase in power increases as the thrust increases implies that there is a point at which adding more battery capacity to a system actually decreases the system's flight time (12), due to the stored energy growing linearly in the mass used for energy storage.

**2.2.2. Agility and speed.** In applications such as drone racing (see, e.g., (13, 14, 15)) the primary objective is speed and agility. During constant velocity flight, the vector sum of vehicle weight, thrust force, and drag force is zero. All else being held equal, the maximum horizontal speed of a vehicle can be increased by reducing its mass, increasing the available



#### Figure 3

Approximate trade-off of efficiency and agility with vehicle linear size (at constant mass) for a multicopter.

www.annualreviews.org • Design and Control of Drones 5

thrust, or decreasing the aerodynamic drag force.

As the translational motion of a multicopter is dominated by the thrust vector, the ability to rapidly alter orientation is crucial to agility. For a vehicle with fixed components and overall mass, the highest agility comes from placing the propellers as close to the vehicle center of mass as possible. Though the torque required for attitude control will increase linearly as the propellers are moved farther from the vehicle center of mass, this effect is counteracted by the quadratic relationship between radius and mass moment of inertia. As the overall mass moment of inertia is typically dominated by the massive motors located at a large distance from the vehicle's center, the vehicle's attitude agility scales approximately inversely proportionally to its overall size. This is why multicopters are typically designed with the propellers placed as compactly as possible to the vehicle center. As smaller propellers can be arranged into a more compact design, there is a clear trade-off to be made between efficiency and agility. The trade-off between agility and endurance is shown schematically in Figure 3.

We briefly recapitulate the scaling argument of (16) to investigate the agility of vehicles as the size of all components is varied. Such an analysis requires assumptions on how achievable thrust force scales with rotor size; a difficult task especially as the scaling of the motor and batteries is typically difficult to capture simply. Two different approximations relating propeller aerodynamic scaling are given in (16), the first assuming that the Froude number (a dimensionless quantity relating flow speed to a characteristic length and the acceleration due to gravity) is constant, and the second assuming that the linear velocity of the rotor tip is constant (motivated by the requirement that the tip not break the sound barrier). These two alternate sets of assumptions lead to the conclusion that a multicopter's linear acceleration is either independent of scale, or scales proportionally to the vehicle's linear scale. The angular acceleration, however, scales either inversely proportional to the linear scale, or the square of the linear scale, depending on whether Froude or Mach scaling is used. For this reason, smaller and more compact multicopters are preferred in applications where agility is important.

**2.2.3.** Survivability and robustness. To operate in complex environments, especially near objects, requires either extremely precise control, or the ability to survive collisions. In the latter case the drone should be continue its mission with minimal interruption, which permits simpler control strategies, less precise sensors, etc. The additional structure required to reject disturbances comes of course with additional mass, with its related disadvantages. Because the structure must surround the vehicle, so that the added mass is typically far from the vehicle's center of mass, this tends to yield a significantly increased moment of inertia, which in turn corresponds to lower achievable angular accelerations.

#### 3. Low level control and stabilization

A typical approach to architecting a control system for a drone is shown at the top-left of Figure 4, where a trajectory planner generates reference states, to be tracked by a low-level controller generating actuator commands. A separate state estimator uses sensor data to generate an estimate. Typically, the planner runs at a much lower frequency than the low-level control and estimator. This approach allows for the design each component in relative isolation, reducing both design complexity and computational cost; and potentially allowing for simpler arguments w.r.t. optimality. However, as increasing computational power

6 Mueller et al.



Various control system architectures.

becomes more available, tighter integration of components allows a designer to achieve more complex performance specifications (especially with respect to robustness and operation in complex environments).

A first step in this direction is the use of receding horizon control, where the trajectory planning is repeated at a very high frequency, and thus no separate trajectory tracking control is needed. Such approaches are especially valuable when operating in dynamic environments. Usually, state estimation remains separate from planning, and the control does not explicitly account for the sensing. Alternatively, the trajectory planner and state estimator can be combined, with the planner taking considerations of estimate quality and sensor modality into account. A separate low-level control allows the planner to run at a lower frequency still.

The final step is a single unified system, where the trajectory planner also explicitly takes sensor constraints and uncertainty into account. Although increasingly tight integration may lead to better performance, it is necessarily more specific to the system and application. In this section we consider the low-level control of a more loosely integrated architecture, while planning is discussed in the next section.

There is a significant amount of literature on control strategies for standard multicopters under nominal conditions. Their dynamics are captured well by relatively simple (though still nonlinear) equations, without complex (and often highly empirical) aerodynamic relationships as are typically required for winged systems. From the discussion in Section 2 it can be seen that the translational motion of a multicopter is dominated by its orientation, specifically the orientation of the thrust vector. If the orientation and total thrust can be regulated sufficiently quickly, the vehicle's acceleration can be treated as an input to a higher-level translational controller, yielding an approximate double-integrator system.

A first choice when designing an attitude controller is the representation used for the attitude, with popular choices including Euler symmetric parameters / quaternions (e.g. (17)), the rotation matrix itself (e.g. (18)), or rotation vectors (e.g. (19)). In a first order analysis, all approaches typically yield similar results, with differences only becoming apparent when recovering from large disturbances / orientation changes.

As these systems are pushed to more complex environments and to execute more challenging tasks, the typical assumptions of perfect state estimates and accurate model knowledge become limiting. One aspect of active research thus focuses primarily on systems with poorly understood dynamics, and another on accounting for greater errors in state estimation. In situations where accurate modelling is difficult, controllers that learn (either in advance, or adapt during operation) become attractive.

Carrying unpredictable payloads is one example where learning and adaptation may play a crucial role, so that the physical parameters required to evaluate the dynamics are unknown and potentially change over time. Gaussian processes are used in (20) to approximate system dynamics, with the adaption only occurring if the model error exceeds a threshold. Adaptive control provides another set of tools to approach such systems – in (21) an adaptive control approach based on Lyapunov analysis is presented to compensate for an unknown payload.

In some cases, robust control theory is used to overcome the uncertainty problem. The robust control approach guarantees a certain level of control performance under various environmental conditions by structured or lumped handling of system uncertainties, and ensures the stability of the system within the designed uncertainty range. Therefore, when robust control is applied to multicopter control, one can overcome parametric uncertainties such as mass and mass moment of inertia uncertainty, or unknown external disturbances such as wind or gust. A recent example is (22), wherein a robust control method satisfies the target performance even when the platform's total mass is unknown.

Another aspect of interest is the interaction between the drone's low-level control and state estimation. For example, stiffer controls requiring larger angular velocity are likely to cause motion blur, leading to poorer tracking using visual sensors. For this reason, it is of interest to design low-level control strategies that incorporate the sensing modality constraints. For example, in (23) a robust controller is designed for a multicopter using VIO for state estimation, where the robust controller is shown to provide improved performance in adverse lighting conditions, at the cost of conservative behavior in well-lit environments.

As drones are naturally sensitive to the ambient air conditions, there is significant effort made to identify the wind field around a drone and suitably compensate for it. In (24) a quadcopter is equipped with an onboard wind sensor to estimate wind fields in an urban environment. Similarly, in (25) a quadcopter with additional sensors estimates the local wind vector, the drag force on the vehicle, and external forces due to e.g. collisions.

Rather than using models, deep reinforcement learning can be deployed by relying on extensive data, as for example in (26) as an approach to react to cyberphysical attacks, avoiding the traditional approach of explicit fault detection and diagnosis.

# 4. Motion planning

Under nominal conditions, with the assumption of perfect state and environment knowledge, the generation of trajectories for drones through static environments is well-studied. See, e.g., (27) for a recent review. Approaches exploiting differential flatness yield trajectory generation schemes that are both high-performance and computationally tractable. However, generating motions through dynamic environments, without explicit advance knowledge of the environment, and with constrained sensing remains a very active area of research. Moreover, given the typically constrained computational resources available for small drones, an emphasis remains on computational efficiency. We consider, specifically, three aspects that can motivate the planning problem – planning while considering limitations of the drone's perception system, planning to avoid collisions in complex environments, and planning for energy considerations. Of course, many other objectives may be considered, e.g. privacy

8 Mueller et al.

(e.g. (28)) or safety.

# 4.1. Planning for perception

In addition to creating trajectories that are dynamically feasible (e.g. do not require impossible inputs), and avoid collisions with obstacles, a growing amount of work additionally strives to create trajectories that account for the vehicle's sensor modalities. Because of size, weight, and power constraints, drones must make do with a minimum number of sensors, placing a greater emphasis on their optimal use. Increasing computational capability allows for more sophisticated algorithms, with more integration of specific sensor capabilities with vehicle control. An early example is the Perception Aware Model Predictive Control framework of (29), with more recent work including (30, 31, 32, 33). The primary sensor is typically a vision sensor, with the motion planner attempting to keep particular visual features inside the camera field of view as the vehicle maneuvers (29, 31, 32), or maneuvering the vehicle to avoid areas with little visual texture, where a VIO system is likely to lose tracking (30, 33).

A related planning problem is to generate motion that maximizes coverage of a target using a particular drone-mounted sensor. In this case, the vehicle motion is typically much slower, and the emphasis is on mission-level planning, rather than low-level stabilization. Some recent examples in this direction include (34, 35, 36) – in both (34) and (35) multiple UAVs are used to carry out inspections of large structures, using respectively heuristics or a greedy strategy to make the problem computationally tractable. The approach in (36) utilizes firstly a top-down view of the scene to be captured, generating a coarse model of the scene to generate paths.

To explore (and generate models/maps of) completely unknown environments represents another difficult challenge. Motivated by the challenge of exploring underground environments such as caves, (37) presents an imitation learning approach built from of a graph-based planner. The approach aims to move the drone so that an onboard depth sensor incrementally reveals the environment.

#### 4.2. Collision avoidance

For most drones, any type of collision is associated with a very high likelihood of crashing, and the failure of the mission. Significant work already exists on planning in static and known environments, with the problem of motion planning through unknown or dynamic environments receiving increasing attention. Where the environment is not previously known, a particular emphasis is on exploiting properties of the drone's sensors, and especially on assumptions and simplifications that allow for computation in a sufficiently short time to be useful.

Depth cameras represent a very attractive sensor for motion planning applications, being relatively lightweight, inexpensive, and directly providing three dimensional information on the environment. In (38) a planning approach is given for a multicopter using a depth camera. Each frame of the depth camera is treated as a local map, through which collisionfree trajectories are planned; where the plan is updated with each new depth frame in a receding-horizon fashion. To achieve sufficiently fast computation, the rectangular image of the depth sensor is specifically exploited, and the free space is represented using collisionfree pyramids. A depth camera is also used in (39), where rays are projected from the vehicle into free space, to quickly detect collisions. Using a library of trajectories, where those in collision can be quickly eliminated, trades some computational load for memory. Two recent examples of this are (40, 41). Because the motions are pre-computed, these methods may be faster to execute than those that rely on real-time computation of motions; however they are limited by the resolution of the precomputed motions.

Radar sensors may allow for detecting the relative velocity of obstacles, and may therefore be particularly suitable in dynamic environments. An example of a drone equipped with a millimeter wave radar is given in (42), which combines the radar with a monocular sensor to track obstacles using an extended Kalman filter, followed by motion planning using RRT<sup>\*</sup> (43).

Event cameras, which record changes in the image (rather than the image itself) also hold much promise for dealing with dynamic environments. In (44) an event camera is combined with a deep neural net to enable a drone to dynamically avoid obstacles thrown at it, and in (45) an event camera-based high-speed dynamic object extraction technique is introduced where the drone can dodge incoming objects rapidly.

Where external sensing (such as motion capture) is available, the challenge of planning with dynamic obstacles is significantly simplified. In such scenarios, external computation can typically also be used, allowing for richer motion plans, and avoiding obstacles that are still beyond what is possible using onboard only sensing. For example, both (4, 46) allow a multicopter to avoid obstacles thrown at it from a short range.

# 4.3. Energy-focused planning

Given the importance of efficient use of the limited energy of a drone, there is also significant effort to take energy consumption into account when doing motion planning. The difficulty of creating accurate models of energy consumption means that approaches here tend to be model-free. In (47) an end-to-end reinforcement learning approach is used to plan to maximize coverage of an area for a given power budget; (48) uses extremum seeking control to adapt a vehicle's speed and sideslip to minimize power consumption in the face of varying payloads and environmental conditions. At a higher level, the motion planning can be combined with system design; for example (49) combines the placement of static battery charging stations with trajectory generation for aerial robotics.

#### 5. Vehicle morphologies

Rapid prototyping tools like 3D printing facilitate experimentation with different vehicle morphologies, and a large variety are used depending on the requirements of the vehicle. In this section we review recent work on vehicle designs, specifically looking at multicopter design, drones with fixed wings, and vehicle teams.

# 5.1. Multicopters

Multicopters remain the most common drones, being mechanically extremely simple. They typically consist of an even number of propellers, symmetrically located around the vehicle center of mass; with the simplest design capable of hovering being a quadcopter as shown in Figure 2. Though simple, the quadcopter has the disadvantage of having no obvious redundancy in the event of a component failure, motivating the design of more complex multicopters featuring six, eight, or more propellers. Some examples of unconventional

10 Mueller et al.



Various unconventional multicopter designs, from left to right (images taken from respective citations): the TiltDrone of (50), with motors on spherical joints, and the Omnicopter (51), equipped with eight motors, are both capable of fully actuated flight. The  $T^3$ -multirotor of (52) can shift its centre of mass by tilting the top platform, giving it the ability to maintain flight after the failure of a motor. Two shape-shifting drones are shown on the right, a foldable drone with actuated arms that move in the rotor plane (53) and a passively morphing drone, with no actuators beyond the four motors of a conventional quadcopter (54).

multicopters are shown in Figure 5.

By allowing the propeller thrust vector to rotate relative to the vehicle body, the system can be fully actuated and capable of moving independently of its orientation. In (50) a quadcopter is presented with motors mounted on spherical joints, so that the system can orient the four thrust vectors independently. Similarly, a hexacopter with tilted rotors is presented in (55): here the focus is on the capability of the vehicle to maintain stable flight in the face of an actuator failure. An approximately rotationally invariant multirotor is presented in (51), where the vehicle's eight propellers allow for ominidirectional thrusts and torques, fully decoupling translational from rotational motion.

Vehicles that can change their shape mid-flight present both novel ways of interacting with the environment and have interesting control challenges. Drones that can fold to reduce their size can fit through environmental obstacles that are otherwise impassable, e.g. with actuated arms (53) or with unactuated, folding hinges (54). In, e.g. (56), a quadcopter's four arms are connected to the central body using springs, allowing the system to bend in response to collisions with the environment, recovering more quickly and potentially avoiding catastrophic failure. Another paper looking at surviving/exploiting collisions is (57), where a quadcopter is encased in a tensegrity shell allowing it to survive high speed collisions, relying on the property of tensegrity structures to avoid bending stress (which is typically the cause of failures during a collision). The design of (58) instead encapsulates the four rotors of a quadcopter in passively rotating shells, allowing the drone's extremities to roll off the environment.

Adjusting a vehicle's center of mass, while keeping the propeller thrusts constant, also produces resultant torque on the vehicle, which can be used to change the vehicle orientation. Unlike the simple dynamics of Section 2, in this case the system mass moment of inertia will dynamically change, leading to much more complex dynamics equations. In (59) a quadcopter is presented that can move the location of the payload by sliding the propellers' arms past the central body; in (52) the payload is mounted on a two degree-offreedom tilting mount on the central body. In both cases, the additional input degrees of freedom can be used for fault-tolerant control in the event of a motor failure.

An extreme example of reducing the energy consumption of a battery-powered quadcopter is given in (12), where a quadcopter is equipped with a staged energy source. Specifically, it is shown how a vehicle's flight time can be increased by ejecting parts of the



Combining multiple drones potentially enables new capabilities. From left to right (images taken from respective citations): the Distributed Flight Array (67), the ModQuad (68), and the Flying Batteries of (69).

battery as they are depleted, meaning that the vehicle weight reduces as the flight continues – it is noted moreover that the environmental impact rules this out in most practical circumstances.

To overcome the limitations of the battery-based power system, drones may be equipped with gasoline engines or fuel cells (e.g. (60, 61)). Since their specific energy is significantly higher than that of a battery, significantly longer flight times can be achieved. However, the added complexity, shift of the center of mass position due to fuel consumption, the difficulty of controlling a system with sloshing liquid fuel, and the change in mass properties are potential disadvantages compared to battery-electric systems.

#### 5.2. Winged vehicles

The typically larger surface area of a fixed wing has the most potential to reduce the energy consumption of a drone, especially when operating at larger speeds. Hybrid vehicles, that combine the ability to takeoff vertically like a multicopter (with a large wing that can produce lift at speed) promise the best of all worlds, but are typically challenging to control at low speeds in the face of external disturbances, and in the transition stages to/from fixed-wing flight due to complex aerodynamics. Pure fixed-wing aircraft require more space for takeoff and landing, but are mechanically simpler than hybrid vehicles.

A recent example of a hybrid vehicle is given in (62), which presents an annular wing encasing a quadrotor configuration; this configuration has the advantage of also shrouding the propellers and makes the vehicle safer for operation e.g. near humans. Anomaly detection for a hybrid design is presented in (63), where an unsupervised learning approach is applied to data from over 5000 flight missions, avoiding the need for hand-crafted fault detection. The control of fixed-wing aircraft outside nominal aerodynamic conditions remains challenging. In (64) a nonlinear MPC controller is presented for post-stall maneuvers for a fixed-wing drone, allowing for e.g. turns around extermely small radii. The flight envelope of a drone is estimated in (65), to be approximated as a convex space and used in an MPC controller. Where a fixed-wing aircraft has enough thrust to overcome its weight, a tailsitter configuration offers the simple design of a fixed wing aircraft, which can also vertically take off and land; an example of such a vehicle and its control is given in (66).

#### 5.3. Vehicle teams

Having multiple vehicles cooperatively solve a task is often attractive: for example, teams combining drones with ground-based robots can exploit the energy efficiency of ground-

<sup>12</sup> Mueller et al.

based locomotion, while having the greater perspective afforded by the flying vehicle – some recent examples are shown in Figure 6. A particularly exciting instance of this is the Ingenuity drone accompanying the Perseverence rover on Mars (70): a 1.8kg helicopter equipped with two counter-rotating, concentric rotors. Ingenuity is capable of autonomous flights, and will inform the design of future extra-planetary drones. Similarly, in (71), a motion planning strategy is presented for an (earth-based) system comprising both drones and ground vehicles, a motion planner is presented by treating it as a partially observable Markov decision process. Ground-based, mobile recharging robots are combined with drones in (72), specifically focusing on multiple UAVs searching for a target, with the ground-based charging robots constrained a road network. Vehicles that can exploit public transport to cover part of their travel distance are considered in (73), where the specific planning problem is to minimize the maximum time to complete a delivery. The problem of landing a drone on a moving platform is investigated in (74), which specifically considers the effect of communication delays.

Interacting with another aerial vehicle is more challenging than interacting with a ground-based system, but enables a variety of interesting applications. When combining multiple drones, the maximum payload is increased – this is exploited in e.g. (75) to carry a flexible hose for firefighting applications, while (76) presents a distributed MPC controller for collaborative transport using drones.

The concept of multiple modular drones with identical geometrical shapes that can selfassemble in midair is also an interesting topic (77, 67, 78, 79, 80, 68). A system of hexagonal units, each equipped with a single propeller, is presented in (77), with the system relying on assembly on the ground before flight. In (78), four cuboid modular drone robots are assembled to act as "Flying gripper", which can surround objects and carry payloads. A mid-air self-assembly algorithm is introduced in (79) and (80), which can rearrange the module's shape according to its mission. The concept is further evolved in (68), with added degrees of freedom roll motion between joined modules, allowing the thrust of each vehicle to participate in generating a high level of yaw control torques.

The limited flight time and range of drones motivates the ability to transfer a payload from one drone to another, allowing the payload to cover a distance that the individual drone could not achieve in a single flight, as proposed in (81). This requires highly precise control and estimation, with (81) presenting a solution relying only on onboard sensors. An alternative approach to overcoming the energy constraints of drones is given in (69), where a main quadcopter is repeatedly visited by smaller "flying batteries". The main quadcopter can thereby stay aloft much longer, with the flying batteries effectively consisting of a large battery attached to a small quadcopter.

#### 6. Outlook

In this paper we have reviewed some recent publications on the design and control of drones. We note that this remains a vibrant area of research, with dedicated conference sessions and workshops, and that is also able to fascinate the broader public. Turn-key localization solutions like USB-connected tracking cameras make autonomous operations easier than ever, and ever more powerful embedded computers allow for complex computations on small hardware.

A trend in common with robotics more broadly is the increasing use of neural networks and learning-based control. This is especially attractive in situations where gathering firstprinciple models is difficult; but such approaches make it difficult to generate rigorous safety guarantees, which are otherwise typical of aerospace applications. Thus, an important aspect of future work is the creation of safe, learning-enabled control that retains the highperformance capabilities of the vehicles. An example of such work is (82).

For both low-level stabilization and higher-level motion planning, a topic of particular relevance is a tight coupling between the sensors (and their limitations) and the control/actuation. The generation of dynamic trajectories on constrained computational hardware remains an interesting challenge.

Although the first quadcopter designs are now a century old, novel sensors, actuators, control strategies, and missions keep providing for new vehicle designs. Of particular interest at the moment is the use of drones for passenger transport, which has the potential to have a great impact on everyday life. This causes a need for designs that are compact, quiet, efficient, and above all else, safe.

Finally, improvements in battery technology and component efficiency will continue to expand the range and endurance of drones. Nonetheless, the fundamental requirement to operate as economically as possible will continue to be an impetus for more efficient designs, and control.

#### LITERATURE CITED

- 1. National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine and others. 2020. Advancing aerial mobility: A national blueprint. National Academies Press
- Kim HD, Perry AT, Ansell PJ. 2018. A review of distributed electric propulsion concepts for air vehicle technology. In 2018 AIAA/IEEE Electric Aircraft Technologies Symposium (EATS), pp. 1–21. IEEE
- 3. De Bothezat G. 1924. Helicopter (US patent 1,749,471)
- 4. Bucki N, Mueller MW. 2019. Rapid collision detection for multicopter trajectories. arXiv preprint arXiv:1904.04223
- Traub LW. 2021. Propeller characterization for distributed propulsion. Journal of Aerospace Engineering 34:04021020
- Faessler M, Falanga D, Scaramuzza D. 2017. Thrust mixing, saturation, and body-rate control for accurate aggressive quadrotor flight. *IEEE Robotics and Automation Letters* 2:476–482
- Gill R, D'Andrea R. 2019. Computationally efficient force and moment models for propellers in UAV forward flight applications. *Drones* 3:77
- 8. Mueller MW, D'Andrea R. 2015. Relaxed hover solutions for multicopters: application to algorithmic redundancy and novel vehicles. *International Journal of Robotics Research* 35:873–889
- Zhang W, Mueller MW, D'Andrea R. 2019. Design, modeling and control of a flying vehicle with a single moving part that can be positioned anywhere in space. *Mechatronics* 61:117–130
- Mahony R, Kumar V, Corke P. 2012. Aerial vehicles: Modeling, estimation, and control of quadrotor. *IEEE Robotics & Automation Magazine* 19:20–32
- 11. McCormick BW. 1995. Aerodynamics, aeronautics, and flight mechanics. John Wiley
- Jain KP, Tang J, Sreenath K, Mueller MW. 2020. Staging energy sources to extend flight time of a multirotor UAV. In IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems (IROS), pp. 1132–1139
- Delmerico J, Cieslewski T, Rebecq H, Faessler M, Scaramuzza D. 2019. Are we ready for autonomous drone racing? the UZH-FPV drone racing dataset. In International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA), pp. 6713–6719. IEEE
- Kaufmann E, Loquercio A, Ranftl R, Dosovitskiy A, Koltun V, Scaramuzza D. 2018. Deep drone racing: Learning agile flight in dynamic environments. In Conference on Robot Learning, pp. 133–145. PMLR
- 14 Mueller et al.

- Pfeiffer C, Scaramuzza D. 2021. Human-piloted drone racing: Visual processing and control. IEEE Robotics and Automation Letters 6:3467–3474
- Kushleyev A, Mellinger D, Powers C, Kumar V. 2013. Towards a swarm of agile micro quadrotors. Autonomous Robots 35:287–300
- Brescianini D, D'Andrea R. 2018. Tilt-prioritized quadrocopter attitude control. IEEE Transactions on Control Systems Technology 28:376–387
- Lee T, Leok M, McClamroch NH. 2010. Geometric tracking control of a quadrotor UAV on SE (3). In Decision and Control (CDC), 2010 49th IEEE Conference on, pp. 5420–5425. IEEE
- Yu Y, Yang S, Wang M, Li C, Li Z. 2015. High performance full attitude control of a quadrotor on SO(3). In IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA), pp. 1698– 1703. IEEE
- 20. Yel E, Bezzo N. 2020. GP-based Runtime Planning, Learning, and Recovery for Safe UAV Operations under Unforeseen Disturbances. In 2020 IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems (IROS). IEEE
- Sankaranarayanan VN, Roy S, Baldi S. 2020. Aerial transportation of unknown payloads: Adaptive path tracking for quadrotors. In 2020 IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems (IROS), pp. 7710–7715. IEEE
- Dhadekar DD, Sanghani PD, Mangrulkar K, Talole S. 2021. Robust control of quadrotor using uncertainty and disturbance estimation. *Journal of Intelligent & Robotic Systems* 101:1–21
- Jarin-Lipschitz L, Li R, Nguyen T, Kumar V, Matni N. 2020. Robust, perception based control with quadrotors. In 2020 IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems (IROS), pp. 7737–7743. IEEE
- Patrikar J, Moon BG, Scherer S. 2020. Wind and the City: Utilizing UAV-Based In-Situ Measurements for Estimating Urban Wind Fields. In Proceedings of the IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems, Las Vegas, NV, USA, pp. 25–29
- 25. Tagliabue A, Paris A, Kim S, Kubicek R, Bergbreiter S, How JP. 2020. Touch the wind: Simultaneous airflow, drag and interaction sensing on a multirotor. In IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems (IROS)
- Fei F, Tu Z, Xu D, Deng X. 2020. Learn-to-Recover: Retrofitting UAVs with Reinforcement Learning-Assisted Flight Control Under Cyber-Physical Attacks. In 2020 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA), pp. 7358–7364. IEEE
- Mueller MW, D'Andrea R. 2019. Trajectory generation for aerial multicopters. In *Encyclopedia* of Systems and Control, ed. J Baillieul, T Samad, pp. 1–7. London: Springer London
- Luo Y, Yu Y, Jin Z, Li Y, Ding Z, et al. 2020. Privacy-Aware UAV Flights through Self-Configuring Motion Planning. In 2020 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA), pp. 1169–1175. IEEE
- Falanga D, Foehn P, Lu P, Scaramuzza D. 2018. Pampc: Perception-aware model predictive control for quadrotors. In 2018 IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems (IROS), pp. 1–8. IEEE
- Bartolomei L, Pinto Teixeira L, Chli M. 2020. Perception-aware Path Planning for UAVs using Semantic Segmentation. In IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems (IROS)
- Jacquet M, Corsini G, Bicego D, Franchi A. 2020. Perception-constrained and Motor-level Nonlinear MPC for both Underactuated and Tilted-propeller UAVS. In 2020 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA), pp. 4301–4306. IEEE
- 32. Jeon B, Lee Y, Kim HJ. 2020. Integrated Motion Planner for Real-time Aerial Videography with a Drone in a Dense Environment. In 2020 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA), pp. 1243–1249. IEEE
- Jeon BF, Shim D, Kim HJ. 2020. Detection-aware trajectory generation for a drone cinematographer. In 2020 IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems (IROS), pp. 1450–1457. IEEE

- 34. Hardouin G, Moras J, Morbidi F, Marzat J, Mouaddib E. 2020. Next-Best-View planning for surface reconstruction of large-scale 3D environments with multiple UAVs. In IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems, pp. 1567–1574
- 35. Jing W, Deng D, Wu Y, Shimada K. 2020. Multi-UAV Coverage Path Planning for the Inspection of Large and Complex Structures. In 2020 IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems (IROS), pp. 1480–1486. IEEE
- Kuang Q, Wu J, Pan J, Zhou B. 2020. Real-Time UAV Path Planning for Autonomous Urban Scene Reconstruction. In 2020 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA), pp. 1156–1162. IEEE
- Reinhart R, Dang T, Hand E, Papachristos C, Alexis K. 2020. Learning-based path planning for autonomous exploration of subterranean environments. In 2020 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA), pp. 1215–1221. IEEE
- Bucki N, Lee J, Mueller MW. 2020. Rectangular pyramid partitioning using integrated depth sensors (rappids): A fast planner for multicopter navigation. *IEEE Robotics and Automation Letters* 5:4626–4633
- Yadav I, Tanner HG. 2020. Reactive Receding Horizon Planning and Control for Quadrotors with Limited On-Board Sensing. In 2020 IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems (IROS). IEEE
- Zhang J, Hu C, Chadha RG, Singh S. 2019. Maximum likelihood path planning for fast aerial maneuvers and collision avoidance. In 2019 IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems (IROS), pp. 2805–2812. IEEE
- 41. Viswanathan VK, Dexheimer E, Li G, Loianno G, Kaess M, Scherer S. 2020. Efficient Trajectory Library Filtering for Quadrotor Flight in Unknown Environments. In 2020 IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems (IROS). IEEE
- 42. Yu H, Zhang F, Huang P, Wang C, Yuanhao L. 2020. Autonomous Obstacle Avoidance for UAV based on Fusion of Radar and Monocular Camera. In 2020 IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems (IROS), pp. 5954–5961. IEEE
- Karaman S, Frazzoli E. 2011. Sampling-based algorithms for optimal motion planning. The international journal of robotics research 30:846–894
- 44. Sanket NJ, Parameshwara CM, Singh CD, Kuruttukulam AV, Fermüller C, et al. 2020. EV-DodgeNet: Deep dynamic obstacle dodging with event cameras. In 2020 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA), pp. 10651–10657. IEEE
- 45. Falanga D, Kleber K, Scaramuzza D. 2020. Dynamic obstacle avoidance for quadrotors with event cameras. *Science Robotics* 5
- Lindqvist B, Mansouri SS, Agha-mohammadi Aa, Nikolakopoulos G. 2020. Nonlinear mpc for collision avoidance and control of UAVs with dynamic obstacles. *IEEE Robotics and Automation Letters* 5:6001–6008
- 47. Theile M, Bayerlein H, Nai R, Gesbert D, Caccamo M. 2020. UAV Coverage Path Planning under Varying Power Constraints using Deep Reinforcement Learning. In IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems (IROS)
- Wu X, Mueller MW. 2020. In-flight range optimization of multicopters using multivariable extremum seeking with adaptive step size. In IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems (IROS)
- 49. Won M. 2020. UBAT: On Jointly Optimizing UAV Trajectories and Placement of Battery Swap Stations. In 2020 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA), pp. 427–433. IEEE
- Zheng P, Tan X, Kocer BB, Yang E, Kovac M. 2020. Tiltdrone: A fully-actuated tilting quadrotor platform. *IEEE Robotics and Automation Letters* 5:6845–6852
- Brescianini D, D'Andrea R. 2018. An omni-directional multirotor vehicle. *Mechatronics* 55:76– 93
- 52. Lee SJ, Jang I, Kim HJ. 2020. Fail-safe flight of a fully-actuated quadrotor in a single motor
- 16 Mueller et al.

failure. IEEE Robotics and Automation Letters 5:6403-6410

- 53. Falanga D, Kleber K, Mintchev S, Floreano D, Scaramuzza D. 2018. The foldable drone: A morphing quadrotor that can squeeze and fly. *IEEE Robotics and Automation Letters* 4:209–216
- Bucki N, Mueller MW. 2019. Design and control of a passively morphing quadcopter. In 2019 International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA), pp. 9116–9122. IEEE
- 55. Pose C, Giribet J, Mas I. 2020. Fault tolerance analysis of a hexarotor with reconfigurable tilted rotors. In 2020 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA), pp. 9359–9365. IEEE
- 56. Patnaik K, Mishra S, Sorkhabadi SMR, Zhang W. 2020. Design and Control of SQUEEZE: A Spring-augmented QUadrotor for intEractions with the Environment to squeeZE-and-fly. In 2020 IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems (IROS). IEEE
- Zha J, Wu X, Kroeger J, Perez N, Mueller MW. 2020. A collision-resilient aerial vehicle with icosahedron tensegrity structure. In IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems (IROS), pp. 1407–1412. IEEE
- Salaan CJ, Tadakuma K, Okada Y, Sakai Y, Ohno K, Tadokoro S. 2019. Development and experimental validation of aerial vehicle with passive rotating shell on each rotor. *IEEE Robotics* and Automation Letters 4:2568–2575
- Kumar R, Deshpande AM, Wells JZ, Kumar M. 2020. Flight control of sliding arm quadcopter with dynamic structural parameters. In 2020 IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems (IROS). IEEE
- 60. Tao P. 2016. Design, prototyping and autonomous control of gasoline-engine variable-pitch quadcopter. Ph.D. thesis, National University of Singapore (Singapore)
- Apeland J, Pavlou D, Hemmingsen T. 2020. State-of-Technology and Barriers for Adoption of Fuel Cell Powered Multirotor Drones. In 2020 International Conference on Unmanned Aircraft Systems (ICUAS), pp. 1359–1367. IEEE
- 62. Gill R, D'Andrea R. 2020. An annular wing VTOL UAV: Flight dynamics and control. *Drones* 4:14
- Sindhwani V, Sidahmed H, Choromanski K, Jones B. 2020. Unsupervised Anomaly Detection for Self-flying Delivery Drones. In 2020 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA), pp. 186–192. IEEE
- Basescu M, Moore J. 2020. Direct NMPC for Post-Stall Motion Planning with Fixed-Wing UAVs. In 2020 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA), pp. 9592– 9598. IEEE
- Zogopoulos-Papaliakos G, Kyriakopoulos KJ. 2020. A Flight Envelope Determination and Protection System for Fixed-Wing UAVs. In 2020 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA), pp. 9599–9605. IEEE
- 66. Ritz R, D'Andrea R. 2018. A global strategy for tailsitter hover control. In *Robotics Research*. Springer
- Kriegleder M, Oung R, D'Andrea R. 2013. Asynchronous implementation of a distributed average consensus algorithm. In 2013 IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems, pp. 1836–1841. IEEE
- Gabrich B, Li G, Yim M. 2020. ModQuad-DoF: A Novel Yaw Actuation for Modular Quadrotors. In 2020 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA), pp. 8267– 8273. IEEE
- Jain KP, Mueller MW. 2020. Flying batteries: In-flight battery switching to increase multirotor flight time. In 2020 International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA), pp. (to appear). IEEE
- Balaram J, Aung M, Golombek MP. 2021. The ingenuity helicopter on the perseverance rover. Space Science Reviews 217:1–11
- Chen C, Wan Y, Li B, Wang C, Xie G, Jiang H. 2020. Motion planning for heterogeneous unmanned systems under partial observation from UAV. In IEEE/RSJ International Conference

on Intelligent Robots and Systems (IROS)

- Booth KE, Piacentini C, Bernardini S, Beck JC. 2020. Target search on road networks with range-constrained UAVs and ground-based mobile recharging vehicles. *IEEE Robotics and Au*tomation Letters 5:6702–6709
- Choudhury S, Solovey K, Kochenderfer MJ, Pavone M. 2021. Efficient large-scale multi-drone delivery using transit networks. *Journal of Artificial Intelligence Research* 70:757–788
- Muskardin T, Coelho A, Della Noce ER, Ollero A, Kondak K. 2020. Energy-based cooperative control for landing fixed-wing UAVs on mobile platforms under communication delays. *IEEE Robotics and Automation Letters* 5:5081–5088
- Kotaru P, Sreenath K. 2020. Multiple quadrotors carrying a flexible hose: dynamics, differential flatness and control. *IFAC-PapersOnLine* 53:8832–8839
- Wehbeh J, Rahman S, Sharf I. 2020. Distributed Model Predictive Control for UAVs Collaborative Payload Transport. In IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems (IROS)
- 77. Oung R, D'Andrea R. 2011. The distributed flight array. Mechatronics 21:908-917
- Gabrich B, Saldana D, Kumar V, Yim M. 2018. A flying gripper based on cuboid modular robots. In 2018 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA), pp. 7024–7030. IEEE
- Saldana D, Gabrich B, Li G, Yim M, Kumar V. 2018. Modquad: The flying modular structure that self-assembles in midair. In 2018 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA), pp. 691–698. IEEE
- Li G, Gabrich B, Saldana D, Das J, Kumar V, Yim M. 2019. ModQuad-Vi: A vision-based selfassembling modular quadrotor. In 2019 International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA), pp. 346–352. IEEE
- Shankar A, Elbaum S, Detweiler C. 2020. Towards in-flight transfer of payloads between multirotors. *IEEE Robotics and Automation Letters* 5:6201–6208
- Fisac JF, Akametalu AK, Zeilinger MN, Kaynama S, Gillula J, Tomlin CJ. 2018. A general safety framework for learning-based control in uncertain robotic systems. *IEEE Transactions* on Automatic Control 64:2737–2752